THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Edward M. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-001336

---

**RECEIVED**  
APR 30 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,  
v.  
Elijah Fernandez Wilson, ..... Appellant.

---

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

---

James H. Price, III  
JAMES H. PRICE, III, P.A.  
644 East Washington Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 271-3535

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)  
114 Whitsett Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 282-1292

*Counsel for Appellant*

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1) Did the trial court commit reversible error in refusing to give a requested charge on spontaneous acts not being sufficient to establish premeditated intent and purpose of mob?
  
- 2) Did the trial court err in refusing to grant the Appellant's motion for directed verdict?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Elijah Wilson and Brittany Irby were each indicated by grand jury in Greenville County with assault and battery by mob in the first degree pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-3-220. A jury trial June 9-12, 2014, the Honorable Edward W. Miller presiding. Jeffrey Westson and Katrina Salsbury represented the State. Ernest Hamilton represent Elijah Wilson. Alex Kornfeld represented Irby. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty for Irby. Wilson was found guilty and sentenced to forty years incarceration. Wilson filed a timely notice of appeal. James H. Price, III and J. Falkner Wilkes represent Wilson in the appeal of this case.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY THAT SPONTANEOUS ACTS DO NOT MEET THE PREMEDITATED ELEMENT OF ASSAULT AND BATTERY BY MOB.**

In the present case the prosecution offered testimony that Wilson was in a gang or group known as the Hit Squad. (R. p. 342). Some of the state witnesses testified that they were in a group or gang called the Tough Money Boys. There was testimony of some loose association between the Hit Squad and the Tough Money Boys. (R. p. 516-518). The Tough Money Boys had met earlier that night at Falls Park where prospective members of the group would have to fight group members for two minutes to join the group. (R. p. 410-412). At some point after leaving Falls Park, some of the Tough Money Boys walked to a party. (R. p. 411-414). The party had apparently been announced on social media. (R. p. 133). Wilson and a couple of the other group were also at the party. (R. p. 359). Although there were members of both groups at the party, there was no evidence that they planned to go together or that they went there for any unlawful purpose.

At the party Ronald Brown, *aka*, Lil Ru, a member of the same group as Wilson, created a disturbance by making gang signs. (R. p. 413). Wilson and Brown did not go to the party together, Brown was already at the party when Wilson arrived. (R. p. 359). Brown was asked to leave but apparently remained inside the building. (R. p. 360). As a result of Brown's disturbance and his refusal to leave the building, the party was shut down early. (R. p. 413-414). The announcement of the party's premature end resulted in two girls running up to Brown accusing him of ruining the party. (R. p. 360; 375; 395). This resulted in Brown hitting one or both girls. (R. p. 360; 375; 395; 416). A melee then ensued. In response to Brown hitting one or both of the

girls, the victim (Debron Harrison) grabbed Treveion Anderson who was standing near Brown. (R. p. 395). The victim was then struck and knocked down, after which he apparently got up and took off running. (R. p. 416-417). At this point it appears that everybody started running. (R. p. 396). Fighting continued outside when the victim attempted to jump over a fence where he was grabbed and fatally assaulted by an unknown number of people. (R. p. 136; 396-397).

The record fails to show that any of the events leading up to the death of the victim were planned in advance. Nor does the record show that Wilson, or anyone else, went to the party with a premeditated intent or purpose to cause this victim any harm. Although the prosecution offered testimony that Wilson was one of the people that attacked the victim, state witness Samson Groves testified that at some point in this sequence of events Wilson was attempting to intervene to stop Groves from starting or engaging in the fight. (R. p. 345). At best the record show only that a serious of unexpected events leading spontaneously to fights that ultimately resulted in the death of the victim. Based on these facts Wilson requested a charge on the law relating to the spontaneous nature of the events. (R. p. 651-652). The court denied the charge. (R. p. 652).

In this case Wilson was charged with the offense of assault and battery by mob pursuant to § 16-3-210. Mob is defined specifically as the assemblage of persons for the premeditated purpose of committing an act of violence upon another person:

"(A) For purposes of this section, a "mob" is defined as the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another."

S. C. Code § 16-3-210(A).

Based on this Court's prior decision in Larmand the defense requested the court charge the jury that spontaneous acts do not meet the premeditated requirement of assault and battery by mob. (T. p. 651-652; 713). The defense argued that the charge proposed by the court was confusing and requested a charge that intent and purpose cannot be formed spontaneously. The State objected to the defense's request. (T. p. 651-652). The request for charge was consistent with the prior law on lynching holding that: "The premeditated purpose and intent underlying a charge of lynching can not be spontaneous." State v. Larmand, 402 S.C. 184 (Ct. App. 2013).

The state argued that the spontaneous act exception was applicable only to lynching and therefore, inapplicable to the offense of assault and battery by mob. (R. p. 651-652). Although correct in its argument that Section 16-3-220 was repealed, the state and the trial court overlooked that Section 16-3-210 was simultaneously amended to define mob exactly as it had been under Section 16-3-220. *See* Act No. 273, § 5, eff. June 2, 2010:

*Lynching/assault and battery by mob*

SECTION 4. Section 16-3-210 of the 1976 Code is amended to read:

"Section 16-3-210. (A) For purposes of this section, a 'mob' is defined as the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another.

Act No. 273, § 5, eff. June 2, 2010.

In addition to maintaining the premeditation purpose and intent element found in lynching, the legislature maintained the title of the Article 3 of Title 16 as "Lynching". It clearly did not intend to alter the elements required to constitute a mob. Wilson's jury charge request therefore rested soundly in the law.

This Court in Larmand discussed the elements of mob under the lynching law, which it equated to mob under 16-3-230:

At the time of Larmand's conviction for second-degree lynching, section 16-3-220 of the South Carolina Code defined second-degree lynching as "[a]ny act of violence inflicted by a mob upon the body of another person and from which death does not result. . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-220 (2003).[fn4] Section 16-3-230 defined a mob as "the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-230 (2003).[fn5] "Although '[t]he common intent to do violence' may be formed before or during the assemblage, to sustain a conviction for lynching the State must produce at least some evidence of premeditation." State v. Smith, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct.App.2002) (quoting State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 214, 428 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct.App.1993)). "[T]he premeditated purpose and intent underlying a charge of lynching cannot be spontaneous." *Id.* at 137, 572 S.E.2d at 475.

State v. Larmand, 402 S.C. 184 (Ct. App. 2013).

The charge Wilson requested was appropriate, as the charge relating to mob specifically requires that the assemblage of persons be for the premeditated purpose and intent of harming another. As given, the charge was not a correct statement of the law. Here, Wilson requested a charge sufficient to instruct the jury that the intent underlying the charge of assault and battery by mob cannot be spontaneous. Wilson sought to have the jury charged as did the defense in Larmand. Here, as in Larmand, the charge given without the requested instruction was not a correct statement of the law.

This court has further discussed the premeditation requirement of mob in State v. Smith, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct.App.2002):

"Mob" is further defined as "the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-230 (1985) (emphasis added); Knox, 340 S.C. at 84, 530 S.E.2d at 888. Although "[t]he common intent to do violence" may be formed before or during the assemblage, State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 214, 428 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct.App. 1993), to sustain a conviction for lynching the State must produce at least some evidence of premeditation. *See* § 16-3-230; Barksdale, 311 S.C. at 214, 428 S.E.2d at 501 ("The State is required to prove every element of the crime for which an accused is charged.").

Premeditation connotes "willful deliberation and planning" or "conscious consideration" preceding a particular act. Black's Law Dictionary 1199 (7th ed. 1999); *see also* Webster's New World College Dictionary 1134 (4th ed. 1999) (defining legal definition of premeditation as "a degree of planning and forethought sufficient to show intent to commit an act"). By definition then, the premeditated purpose and intent underlying a charge of lynching cannot be spontaneous.

State v. Smith, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct.App.2002).

In Smith three witnesses testified to an assault. One of the witnesses testified that he was talking to Moore, the victim, when Smith inexplicably said "You don't know me like that . . ." and began hitting him. Another witness testified that the victim had "mumbled something" before Smith got out of the truck and hit him. After Smith struck the victim, another individual come across and hit the victim in the back of the head causing the victim to fall to the ground. When the victim attempted to get up, a passenger in Smith's truck exited the vehicle and cut the victim with a blade.

In Smith this Court found that all of the testimonial evidence presented by the State indicated only that the defendant became upset at something the victim said, jumped out of his truck, and hit him. The second individual that came over from across the street and hit victim in the back of the head neither arrived with the defendant nor was with the other two when the

incident began. The court found that this evidence showed only that as the defendant and a second person independently attacked the victim, the passenger in the defendant's truck then got out and attacked the victim as well. The impulsive attack by Smith that was later joined by two others was found insufficient to meet the premeditation requirement of "mob". As in Smith, the facts of this case show no more than an impulsive act by Brown that resulted in a spontaneous melee that led to the victim's death.

In this case the instantaneous nature of the events precludes any finding of premeditation. Young testified that two girls rushed Brown. (R. p. 395). Ianteves Rogers testified that when the two girls ran at Brown, he hit them. (R. p. ). According to Young, when Brown hit the two girls, the victim "started off" on Treveion Anderson. (R. p. 395). The victim was then struck and knocked down, after which he apparently got up and took off running. (R. p. 458-459). Rogers testified that when the victim got hit, "we chased him". (R. p. 376). Young testified: "I just started running. I pulled him off the fence. I guess we was going to beat him." (R. p. 397). As in Smith, the events were spontaneous individual acts and not the premeditated intent and purpose of Wilson.

In the present case none of the State's witnesses testified they saw any signs of premeditated intent by Wilson or any one in either group in going to the party. Once at the party the events that led to the death of the victim occurred rapidly. The record is devoid of any evidence, direct or circumstantial, proving that Wilson acted with the required premeditated purpose and intent to assemble and injure the victim. <sup>1</sup> As all of the events leading up to the

---

<sup>1</sup> At trial Ianteves Rogers denied that he heard Wilson say anything as Rogers came out of the building as the victim was being chased. The state offered Roger's prior testimony from family court that Wilson said "You better go get him" as impeachment. (R. p. 379). Chrisitan Williams testified that it was Ronald Brown that said "Y'all better get him". (R. p. 508-509).

victim's death were a spontaneous chain of individual acts, the record fails to satisfy the premeditated requirement necessary to constitute a "mob."

Generally, a defendant is entitled to a requested jury charge as long as it is a correct statement of law on an issue raised by both the indictment and evidence presented at trial. State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 458, 385 S.E.2d 830, 831 (1989). An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]'s decision absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.* at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166-67. The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law. *Id.* at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167; State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303 (2014). Here, Wilson requested a correct statement of the law, which the trial court refused. That error constituted an error of law and was therefore an abuse of discretion.

To warrant reversal, a trial [court]'s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011). In order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant. *See State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 536 S.E.2d 679 (2000); *see also State v. Wyatt*, 317 S.C. 370, 453 S.E.2d 890 (1995) (holding error without prejudice does not warrant reversal). Prejudice here can be shown by the verdict despite the insufficiency of evidence.

In Wilson's case the jury charge as given allowed the jury to consider the spontaneous chain of events as evidence of guilt.<sup>1</sup> The failure of the trial court to give the requested jury

---

<sup>1</sup> This is even more problematical in light of the court's *hand of one-hand of all* charge, which allowed the jury to find Wilson guilty despite a lack of premeditation on his part if it found premeditation on the part of any member of the two groups.

instructions constitutes reversible error when the charges given fail to afford the proper test for determining the issues. *See State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002). Here, the jury could have considered any act in a chain of spontaneous events as evidence of Wilson's guilt. In light of the lack of evidence as to premeditation of the purpose and intent to injure the deceased, it is likely that the jury did exactly that. This allowed Wilson's conviction without the State having clearly established premeditation on the part of Wilson. Wilson was therefore entitled to have the jury charged that spontaneous acts are insufficient to establish the premeditated purpose and intent requirement for the offense charged. The refusal of that charge constitutes reversible error.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.<sup>2</sup>**

The defense moved for a directed verdict based on insufficiency of the evidence. (R. p. 549; 552; 643.) Wilson specifically raised a lack of evidence sufficient to establish premeditation as necessary element of the offense charged. (R. p. 643). As more fully set forth above, the record fails to establish the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another as required under Section 16-3-210. Because the necessary premeditated intent and purpose can not be spontaneous Wilson was entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge. *See State v. Larmand*, 402 S.C. 184 (Ct. App. 2013); *State v. Smith*, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct.App.2002). Here, the State at best proved only a series of unplanned individual acts that occurred spontaneously. This fails to constitute evidence of premeditation.

---

<sup>2</sup>The facts and argument of Issue I are incorporated herein.

In ruling on a motion for directed verdict in a criminal case, a trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *See State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 555 S.E.2d 402 (2001). In so doing, the court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001). This Court, in reviewing a refusal to grant the motion, must also view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State. *State v. McGowan*, 347 S.C. 618, 557 S.E.2d 657 (2001). If the record reveals any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove guilt, then this Court must find the trial court acted properly in submitting the case to the jury. *See Buckmon*, 347 S.C. at 321, 555 S.E.2d at 404; *Lollis*, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256.

On the other hand, if the State fails to present sufficient evidence of the offense, a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict from the court. *State v. Parris*, 353 S.C. 582, 578 S.E.2d 736 (Ct.App. 2003) *citing State v. Walker*, 349 S.C. 49, 562 S.E.2d 313 (2002). Hence, "where the facts of the case, even if proved, do not constitute the alleged criminal conduct, a directed verdict must be granted." *State v. Jackson*, 338 S.C. 565, 569, 527 S.E.2d 367, 369 (Ct.App. 2000).