**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

SEP 28 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001336

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ELIJAH FERNANDEZE WILSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's issue regarding jury charges is not preserved for review, but even if preserved, the trial court properly excluded the exact wording of Appellant's request to charge the jury that spontaneous acts do not meet the premeditated element of assault and battery by mob because it determined the content of what Appellant asked for would be charged.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by refusing to charge the jury that spontaneous acts do not meet the premeditated element of assault and battery by mob. Initially, this issue is likely not preserved for appellate review. After Appellant handed the trial judge his proposed instruction, the trial judge told him, "I think the content of what you've asked for . . . is going to be charged." (R. 652, lines 11-12.) Besides clarifying the lynching statute in Appellant's proposed charge had been repealed and replaced by assault and battery by mob, Appellant made no further objection once the trial court told him the content of what he requested was going to be charged. Additionally, Appellant made no objection to the exclusion of a charge on spontaneous acts after the charges were given. Because it appears Appellant accepted that the charges the trial court gave were sufficient to contain what he requested, this issue is not preserved for review by this Court. However, if this Court finds the issue is preserved, the trial court charged the current and correct law. Furthermore, even if the trial court erred, Appellant has not shown any prejudice. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

Preservation

Error in jury instructions is not preserved for review if the defendant fails to object. See Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (stating failure to object to the giving or failure to

give a jury instruction shall constitute waiver of the objection); State v. Whipple, 324 S.C. 43, 52, 476 S.E.2d 683, 688 (1996) (noting the failure to object to a charge as given, or to request an additional charge when given an opportunity to do so, constitutes a waiver of the right to complain on appeal).

After the trial court assured Appellant its charges would contain the content he was requesting, it was incumbent upon Appellant to bring it to the trial court's attention if this was not done. After the trial judge charged the jury, he asked if there were any exceptions or objections from any of the parties. Appellant stated that he "may have omitted the request for charge for responsibility." (R. 713, lines 14-15.) The trial judge replied that it was all contained in the charge he gave and that he did not misstate or omit anything in the law as Appellant submitted. (R. 713, lines 16-19.) At no time did Appellant object that the trial court did not charge his requested "spontaneous act" language.

Merits

"Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Id. Here, the charge was a current and correct statement of the law on assault and battery by mob in South Carolina.

Appellant requested a jury charge he described as "instructions on independent acts of a conspiracy and group." (R. 644, lines 3-5.) The State did not object. The State requested a charge on assault and battery by mob that the intent can be formed in an instant. The trial court asked for both proposed charges to be submitted the following morning. Appellant objected to the State's proposed charge. The trial court made no

ruling on the State's proposed charge, and it is unclear whether the trial court used any part of what the State proposed. However, no language including "intent can be formed in an instant" was contained in the charges the trial court gave the jury.

Appellant's proposed charge included the statute itself and two statements from State v. Smith, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct. App. 2002): "Although '[t]he common intent to do violence' may be formed before or during the assemblage, to sustain a conviction for lynching the State must produce at least some evidence of premeditation," and "The premeditated purpose and intent underlying the charge of lynching cannot be spontaneous." (Defendant's Request to Charge.) The following exchange took place:

The Court: I'm more concerned about the common intent to do violence. I think that's covered in the one that you gave me.

[The State]: That's correct, Your Honor.

The Court: So I think the content of what you've asked for, Mr. Hamilton, is going to be charged.

Mr. Hamilton: Your Honor, but you're saying that the—this lynching—it's under the statute for lynching.

The Court: Lynching was repealed. It was replaced by this assault and battery by mob. It's the same concept, but the statute is gone.

Okay. Anything else?

(R. 652, lines 7-18.) (emphasis added.) Based on this exchange, it appears Appellant got what he requested when the trial court told him the content he asked for was going to be charged and he made no further argument when asked if there was anything else.

The trial judge instructed the jury:

Now, for purposes of this offense, a mob is defined as the assemblage of two or more persons without color or

authority of law for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another. To constitute a mob under this statute, the assemblage need not have been formed with the premeditated purpose and intent of committing an act of violence on that person or another—of the person of another, but the required premeditated purpose and intent may be formed after the participants are assembled. And any act of violence inflicted by a mob upon the body of another person which results in the death of the person shall constitute the crime of assault and battery by mob in the first degree.

(R. 710, line 15-R. 711, line 3.) This charge reflects the direct wording of the statute plus language from State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 216, 428 S.E.2d 498, 501 (Ct. App. 1993). Nothing in the charge is contradictory to the notion that the premeditated purpose and intent cannot be spontaneous. Indeed, the language Appellant requested from State v. Smith states that the intent can be formed before or during the assemblage in addition to its conclusion, based on the definition of premeditation, that “the premeditated purpose and intent underlying a charge of lynching cannot be spontaneous.” 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct. App. 2002). And State v. Larmand, 402 S.C. 184, 191, 739 S.E.2d 898, 902 (2013) *cert. granted*, also contains both types of language.

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 270-71, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011).

A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law. The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. When reviewing the trial court’s refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant.

Id. “Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.” State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 512, 716 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2011).

When a party requests the trial court charge a correct and applicable principle of law, the court must charge it. However, the court is not required to use any particular language in explaining the principle. When reviewing a challenge to a trial court’s refusal to use the specific language in a request to charge, an appellate court must consider the charge as a whole in evaluating whether the trial court charged the correct law applicable to the case. Therefore, there is no error of law in refusing to give a specific request to charge where (1) the charge requested is an incorrect statement of law, or (2) the trial court used language different from that requested, but considering the charge as a whole, the charge as given stated the requested principle of law correctly.

State v. Marin, 404 S.C. 615, 620, 745 S.E.2d 148, 151 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis added). “The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011).

When considered as a whole, the jury charges the trial court gave here contain the correct definition and adequately cover the law of assault and battery by mob. Additionally, the charges afford the proper test for determining the issues. Our case law, including Barksdale, Smith, and Larmand, make clear the premeditation element of lynching (now assault and battery by mob) may be formed before or during the assemblage. This language was present in the trial court’s instructions to the jury and was sufficient to provide the jury the proper test to determine whether Appellant committed the crime of assault and battery by mob based on the statutory definition. Thus, no prejudicial error is present. Dickey, 394 S.C. at 512, 716 S.E.2d at 108. Appellant argues “[p]rejudice can be shown by the verdict despite the insufficiency of the

evidence.” (App.Br.8.) However, as discussed further in the directed verdict section of the brief, sufficient evidence was presented to demonstrate premeditated purpose and intent based on the testimony of numerous witnesses. The jury was presented with sufficient evidence to have reached the verdict it reached.

II.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because direct evidence existed to establish each element of the crime charged.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in refusing to grant his directed verdict motion. Specifically, he argues the State failed to establish evidence of premeditation as required by the statute for assault and battery by mob. On the contrary, the State presented evidence establishing the assemblage of two or more persons for the premeditated purpose and intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another as required by statute. Thus, sufficient evidence established each element of the crime, and the trial court properly denied the directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury for its resolution. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. Id. “If there is *any direct evidence* or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. at 292-93, 625 S.E.2d at 648 (emphasis added). The trial court should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 625-26, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605-06 (2009). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 120, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007).

Appellant was charged with first-degree assault and battery by mob.

(A) For purposes of this section, a “mob” is defined as the assemblage of two or more persons, without color or authority of law, for the premeditated purpose and with the premeditated intent of committing an act of violence upon the person of another.

(B) Any act of violence inflicted by a mob upon the body of another person, which results in the death of the person, shall constitute the felony crime of assault and battery by mob in the first degree and, upon conviction, an offender shall be punished by imprisonment for not less than thirty years.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-210 (Supp. 2014).

In State v. Larmand, 402 S.C. 184, 192, 739 S.E.2d 898, 902 (2013) *cert. granted*, this Court found the trial court erred in denying Larmand’s motion for a directed verdict. This Court found the record devoid of any evidence tending to prove Larmand and his codefendant, Lemire, acted with the premeditated purpose and intent required to sustain a conviction. Id. The evidence presented by the State to show premeditation included Larmand and Lemire driving together to the victim’s house at midnight uninvited, their parking down the street from the house, their wearing dark clothing, and their separate approaches to the house on foot with Lemire carrying a gun and pointing it at the victim. Id. at 191, 739 S.E.2d at 902. This Court considered the testimony that Larmand told Lemire to stay in the car and was not aware he had a gun. Id. at 191-92, 739 S.E.2d at 902. Likewise, Lemire testified Larmand told him to stay in the car and did not know he had a gun. Id. This Court noted none of the State’s witnesses testified they saw any signs of premeditated intent between Larmand and Lemire to harm the victim. Id.

In State v. Smith, 352 S.C. 133, 137, 572 S.E.2d 473, 475 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court also found the record devoid of any evidence tending to prove Smith acted with the premeditated purpose and intent required to sustain a conviction. The evidence in Smith

showed he became upset at something the victim said, jumped out of the truck, and hit him. Id. at 138, 572 S.E.2d at 475. Furthermore, the evidence showed Tori Rawlinson, the other person who struck the victim, came from across the street and was not with Smith. Id. The evidence showed the attacks were independent and that Smith attacked the victim impulsively. Id.

This Court distinguished Smith from State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 216, 428 S.E.2d 498, 501 (Ct. App. 1993). The facts in Barksdale are very similar to the case at hand. It involved an altercation outside a nightclub, in which the defendants were involved in a verbal confrontation in which the victim intervened. The defendants took turns assaulting the victim, who later died from his injuries. This Court noted the defendants' intent in assembling was transformed from a lawful purpose to an unlawful one when they returned to the club with the expressed purpose and intent to commit an act of violence upon the victim. Id. Here, we have similar facts. Lil Ru hit the two girls and Victim intervened. He and Lil Ru fought, but then Victim ran away. At that point, the altercation had ended. However, the fact that people chased Victim and beat him after the original fight was over transformed any lawful purpose into an unlawful one.

In Barksdale, this Court noted that "mob" has been held practically synonymous with "riot." 311 S.C. at 213, 428 S.E.2d at 500. This Court noted the Supreme Court has defined riot as:

[A] tumultuous disturbance of the peace by three or more persons assembled together of their own authority, with the intent mutually to assist each other against anyone who shall oppose them, and putting their design into execution in a terrific and violent manner, whether the object was lawful or not.

Id. at 214, 428 S.E.2d at 500 (quoting State v. Albert, 257 S.C. 131, 134, 184 S.E.2d 605, 607 (1971), *cert. denied*, 409 U.S. 966 (1972)).

Here we have several of the State's witnesses, many of whom participated in the crime, who testified regarding signs of premeditated intent. The State presented evidence that Appellant and others—including his codefendant Brittany Irby, Lil Ru, and a number of juveniles who testified—chased, beat, and kicked Victim. Ianteves Rogers recalled Appellant holding a gun and saying, "You better go get him, too," while he was in pursuit of Victim. (R. 378, line 17-R. 380, line 20.) When asked what they were planning to do when they caught up with Victim, Jyquavious Young said, "I guess we was just going to beat him." (R. 396, lines 17-19.) Christian Williams testified Lil Ru told the others they better get Victim or he would shoot them. (R. 507, line 12-R. 508, line 3.) Camilla Palmer testified a whole crowd of at least fifty jumped Victim and chased him behind the building. (R. 136, line 20-R. 138, line 3.) Kyzer Thomas testified he chased Victim with about twenty others, saw Appellant strike Victim, and witnessed a lot of people kicking and hitting Victim. (R. 419, line 3-R. 422, line 17.) He told the people to stop because "he didn't look like he was alive," but they did not. (R. 422, line 18-R. 423, line 1.)

All of the above testimony provided direct evidence establishing the elements of assault and battery by mob. Premeditation was shown by the statements made by Appellant and Lil Ru that the others better get him while also either saying or implying they would shoot the others if they did not comply. The fact that the group continued beating Victim even after Thomas told them to stop because he did not look like he was alive indicates "forethought sufficient to show intent to commit an act" or in this case, continue an act. See Smith, 352 S.C. at 137, 572 S.E.2d at 475 (defining premeditation as "a degree of planning and forethought sufficient to show intent to commit an act").

Unlike Larmand and Smith, the record here is not devoid of any evidence tending to prove Appellant acted with the premeditated purpose and intent required to sustain a conviction. As is clear from our case law, including Barksdale, Smith, and Larmand, the premeditation element of lynching (now assault and battery by mob) may be formed before or during the assemblage. Even if the group did not determine ahead of time it was going to beat Victim, the evidence shows the crowd began working together to commit an act of violence once members of the group, including Appellant, encouraged others to participate in the beating and continued beating Victim even after he tried to get away. Premeditation was established, and the trial court correctly denied the directed verdict motion and submitted the case to the jury for its resolution.

CONCLUSION